KIEP STAFF PAPER 14-02



Rethinking Monetary and Financial Policies in China

IL HOUNG LEE

Korea Institute for International Economic Policy

> MURTAZA SYED International Monetary Fund

DA YOUNG YANG

Korea Institute for International Economic Policy



August, 2014

Rethinking Monetary and Financial Policies in China

Il Houng Lee^{*} Korea Institute for International Economic Policy (KIEP)

Murtaza Syed International Monetary Fund (IMF) Da Young Yang Korea Institute for International Economic Policy (KIEP)

Abstract

There is partial consensus that the size of money—or liquidity—in China should be large reflecting the high savings rate. Even so, with a sense of a liquidity overhang from the recent monetary expansion, many caution against expanding liquidity further lest it translate into a property bubble. Instead, they argue for ways to speed up the circulation of liquidity—in other words to raise velocity—to stimulate the real economy. The recent growth of the non-banking system adds to these concerns, and has been criticized as falling short of promoting effective financial intermediation. Some even claim that the monetary authorities may be losing control over the growth of key monetary aggregates. Against this background, this paper reviews recent monetary developments in China and considers how monetary aggregates and the financial system may have to change to support the rebalancing of the economy.

JEL Classification: E42, E51, E52, E58

Keywords: monetary system in China; money supply; monetary policy

^{*} President of Korea Institute for International Economic Policy (KIEP) and Korea's G-20 Sherpa. We would like to thank seminar participants at the IMF-CASS Conference on "China's Growth and its Policy Implications" in April 2013 in Beijing for useful comments. Views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Korean government or the IMF or IMF policy.

^{*} The contents of the KIEP Staff Papers don't reflect or represent the official opinion of KIEP.

^{*} The KIEP Staff Papers are published with the aim of promoting discussions among researchers. (Work in progress)

Contents

1.	Introduction	4
2.	Literature Survey	5
3.	Is the PBC Losing Monetary Control?	6
	3.1. A Stylized Model of Monetary Transmission in China	6
	3.2. Are "Non-bank" Balance Sheets Independent of Banks?	
	3.3. What is "Shadow Banking"?	9
	3.4. Bottom line: Monetary Control	11
4.	Is China Suffering from Liquidity Overhang?	12
	4.1. Optimal Liquidity: Theory	12
	4.2. How Much Liquidity Does China Need?	15
5.	Is China's Deposit Rate Too Low? A Financial Stability Perspective	16
6.	Rebalancing China's Growth: The Future of the Financial Sector	17
7.	Conclusion	18
Re	ferences	20

1. Introduction

Since the global crisis, China has relied on significant monetary stimulus to support domestic activity and compensate for the drop in global demand that has hit its manufacturing and export sectors. This has taken the form of both bank and non-bank lending. While successful at buttressing growth, this response has given rise to several questions:

- First, is the central bank losing monetary control as intermediation moves outside of the banking system, over which it has historically exercised powerful sway through a mix of price and quantitative restrictions?
- Second, is the economy suffering from a liquidity overhang, such that incremental credit injections lead less to supporting real activity than to pressures on asset prices and hoarding?
- Third, are deposit rates necessarily too low, in light of financial stability considerations?
- And fourth, looking ahead what kind of financial sector does China need, including in terms of the relative size of the bank and non-bank sectors and the optimal amount of liquidity to support growth?

This paper addresses these four questions, and argues that:

- The monetary authorities still retain relatively good control over the growth of monetary aggregates. While non-banks have grown rapidly, their activities are largely influenced by banks through various channels.
- Recent data point to a significantly diminished impact of liquidity on real activity. This may be an indication that credit is losing traction, and that increasingly more liquidity may be required to generate the same amount of activity. If this is the case, then a cleanup of bank balance sheets, as seen in the late 1990s, may need to precede financial sector reform.
- Allowing for the possibility of large NPLs that may be currently hidden away on the balance sheet of financial institutions, China's deposit rate may not necessarily be too low. If this is indeed the case, then as above, the implication is that a clean-up of these bad assets may need to be the first step in China's financial reform. Otherwise, households will need to bear the burden and the economy will become increasingly addicted and unresponsive to monetary stimulus.
- Going forward, the paper argues that a reform of the financial sector is urgent to ensure that institutions start building up capacity to assess risks properly. This will provide the necessary environment for resources to start being allocated optimally through market signals. Such a reform will require a fundamental rethink of the current governance structure, under which the financial sector is subservient to the growth model. The timing is propitious as the growth

model itself is being transformed through the structural reforms announced by the new leadership. With these conditions in place, the relative size of banks and non-bank system would not be important in itself and should be left for the market to determine over time. In terms of the overall size of the financial system, it should not be China's high savings rate that is the determinant, but the productive capacity of the economy. This, in turn, is a function of investment and productivity.

2. Literature Survey

The existing literature does not directly address the questions posed in this paper. Instead, a large part of the research focuses on the effectiveness of China's monetary policy and its policy framework. More specifically, studies range from describing monetary policy responses to economic fluctuations, transmission of price signals, and the impact of the policy on asset prices. On balance, these studies conclude that the monetary policy framework is functional despite rigidities in key interest rates reflecting the liberalization efforts in the past few decades, and addresses inflation and economic fluctuations relatively well.

On China's monetary policy responses to real fluctuations, studies indicate that the policy framework has been broadly appropriate. Several papers show, using a McCallum-type rule, that inflation and GDP growth are important inputs to policy responses (Burdekin and Siklos (2008), Fan *et al.* (2011), He *et al.* (2011), Jawadi *et al.* (2014)). Shu and Ng (2010) confirm this result using a discrete choice model based on a constructed People's Bank of China (PBC) policy stance index. Yet, some of the same authors and others (He and Pauwels (2008), Fan *et al.* (2011), Zheng *et al.* (2012), Jawadi *et al.* (2014)), conclude that only inflation matters when measured in a price-signal dependent Taylor-type rule. Relating to the exchange rate, Mehrotra and Sánchez-Fung (2010) argue that exchange rate shocks do not have a significant effect on monetary policy, although not many will disagree, like Li and Tsai (2013), that a relaxation of exchange rate regime increases the independence of market-based monetary policy in China.

Relating to the transmission mechanism and the effect of monetary policy on the real economy and asset prices, Dickinson and Liu (2007) show that the influence of interest rates on output increased over 1984 to 1997. This in part can be attributed to private enterprises becoming increasingly sensitive to monetary policy changes. Sun *et al.* (2010) confirm this outcome using bank balance sheets and a VAR/VECM model. However, He *et al.* (2013) argue that the non-market-based quantity limits on bank loans are more effective than the market-based instruments using a factor-augmented VAR method. In terms of asset prices, monetary policy is found to have a significant effect on housing prices in several studies (Zhang *et al.* (2011), Yan *et al.* (2011), Koivo (2012), Xu and Chen (2012)) while the estimated impact on stock prices is somewhat more mixed (Yao *et al.* (2011), Koivo (2012), Tang *et al.* (2013)).

Relating to the structure of the monetary policy framework, Cassola and Porter (2011) point out that changes in the PBC rates influence the structure of government, financial, and corporate bond yield curves, which in turn are associated with changes in growth and inflation, and on that basis argue

that necessary elements are in place to move towards indirect monetary policy. Garcia-Herrero and Girardin (2013) provide evidence on the ability of PBC communication to steer the money market in its intended direction. However, Chen *et al.* (2011) note that PBC's intervention on deposit and lending rate prevents the interbank rate from effectively signaling that monetary policy stance. More specifically, He and Wang (2012) suggest liberalizing the deposit rate first as the current ceiling has brought down the overall interest rate structure below equilibrium levels.

In terms of the growing non-bank sector, there are a few recent studies discussing its implications for monetary policy and providing some policy recommendations. Li and Ge (2011) argue that monetary control may become less effective because of the credit-creation function of "shadow" banking, and suggesting that monetary policy should pay more attention to asset prices. In a a similar vein, Luo and Ke (2012) argue that as the shadow banking sector grows, the PBC's broader measure of liquidity called Total Social Financing (TSF)¹ should become the primary target of monetary policy instead of M2.

The existing Chinese literature on liquidity overhang focuses on China's high M2/GDP ratio and provides various explanations for this. Li (2007) argues that the exchange function of money is gradually replacing its asset function and this leads to an ever growing M2/GDP. Zhang and Wu (2008) attribute it to the high ratio of deposit to credit and the high ratio of bad loan, while Huang and Shijun (2011) argue that M2/GDP is at least 30 percent higher because of financial repression.

Against these findings, this paper approaches the questions on observed facts, supplementing the analytics with charts. It reviews the main elements of the monetary and financial system in China, identifies the inter-connections between the bank and non-bank sectors, presents theoretical arguments for how to think about the level of liquidity and interest rates in China from macroeconomic and financial stability perspectives, and takes a first pass at outlining the broad contours of the new financial system that China will need to sustain and rebalance its growth in the coming years. The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 3 examines whether the PBC is losing monetary control as intermediation moves from banks to non-banks. Section 4 assesses the extent to which China may be suffering from liquidity overhang that is fueling asset bubbles and reducing the effect of monetary stimulus on the economy. Section 5 reconsiders whether China's deposit rate is too low from a financial stability perspective and Section 6 ponders the question of the future of China's financial system. Section 7 concludes.

3. Is the PBC Losing Monetary Control?

3.1. A Stylized Model of Monetary Transmission in China

The PBC's monetary policy is anchored on growth targets for key monetary aggregates, usually M2 and bank credit (Figure 1). The transmission works through the signaling effect of this

¹ Recently, the definition has been changed to Aggregate Financing.

announcement as well as through a combination of interest rates and quantity channels. The main policy instrument is the deposit rate (ceiling), supplemented by window guidance as necessary. The deposit rate steers the whole interest rate structure, setting the tone for monetary conditions in China (Figure 2). Its level relative to foreign interest rates is also important because that influences the overall balance of payments condition including through the cost of capital across countries, although much less than the case if capital account was fully convertible. The deposit rate rose in tandem with foreign interest rates during 2007-08, and was then reduced during 2009, influencing credit growth accordingly. For example, the easing in 2009 and 2012 was followed by credit booms with 6 month lags.



Another key interest rate is the interbank rate, which serves as the wholesale funding rate for nonbank credit instruments that largely cater to SMEs. By controlling liquidity conditions in the interbank market, the PBC influences the interbank market rates (SHIBOR, CB bill and the repo rates), thereby helping shift funds in and out of bank balance sheets (Figure 3). Until mid 2012, due to large balance of payments inflows, managing interbank liquidity largely centered on how much of foreign exchange intervention to sterilize. Given the nature of the inflows, more permanent instruments such as the RRR or longer term CB bills were used to mob up liquidity. However, more recently, with more balanced external flows, short term instruments are being used to manage liquidity, i.e., short-term reverse repos. The divergence of net domestic credit of banks (NDC) from M2 is in most cases due to transactions with the central bank.

The money multiplier has remained broadly within the 3.5-4 range since 2007, rising briefly above 4.5 in 2009 (Figure 4). However, the role of base money in influencing M2 seems to be small in the short term. Given the way monetary policy framework is set up, base money appears to be endogenously determined by the aforementioned activities of the PBC. During a policy induced rapid expansion of money, base money lags behind M2 as initially banks convert their reserve position at the PBC to credit, immediately translating into deposits in the first instance. Thus, changes in base money tend to decline and the money multiplier increase during the expansionary phase.

Figure 4. Money Multiplier



Figure 3. Net Injection in Interbank Market

3.2. Are "Non-bank" Balance Sheets Independent of Banks?

Despite the growth of non-bank financing in recent years, China's credit supply is still largely dominated by banks. Bank deposits provide the bulk of financing resources, which are then passed onto off-balance activities or non-banks through lending in the interbank market. On the liability side, banks compete with other savings instruments such as wealth management products (WMPs). If the difference between net domestic credit and deposits is positive, it implies that other funding sources such as drawdown of reserves at the PBC or bond financing are being used to finance credit (Figure 5). If total social financing minus deposits is positive, it means other sources of financing such as bond or WMPs are used for TSF financing beyond the bank channel. This differential rose sharply in the third quarter of 2011 and in the second half of 2012. In both cases, TSF well exceeded net domestic credit, implying that financing was provided outside the banking system, most likely through WMPs.

The relative levels of the interbank rate, returns on wealth management products, and the deposit rate influence the allocation of funds between bank deposits, off-balance non-principal guaranteed saving certificates, and various forms of non-bank deposit savings (Figure 6). The return on WMPs used to be defined broadly as the deposit rate (guaranteed return) plus some mark up for risk premia until late 2010, when monetary tightening started to push up interbank market rates (shown in Figure 6 by the 3 month repo rate). When the monetary policy stance reversed in 2012 in response to slowing demand, returns on WMPs also fell in line with the whole interest rate structure. However, as demand started to pick up again in the second half of 2012 and the monetary policy stance remained unchanged, returns on WMPs picked up in line with the interbank rate, thus widening the gap with the deposit rate. This increased differential appears to have pulled funding

away from bank deposits to WMPs and contributed to the widening gap between TSF and net domestic credit of banks.



Figure 7. Bank Balance Sheet



Quarterly data hide strong monthly flows of deposits and net lending to the interbank market as well as movements between on and off-balance sheets (Figure 7). The amount of the movement is larger by households than the corporate sector, which is understandable as the former hold a greater share of WMPs that are usually of short term. Shifting of funds between on- and off-balance sheets takes

place on both the asset and the liability side, the former through lending to other depository corporations and the latter through deposits.

3.3. What is "Shadow Banking"?

Shadow banking is used to mean at least three different groups of the financial system. The first group is captured under non-banks and includes insurance, trust, and other small financial institutions such as leasing, registered pawn shops, guarantee, and microfinance companies. At the end of 2012, trust companies' assets surpassed those of the insurance sector. The assets of all other small financial institutions are still estimated to be smaller than the insurance companies. The second group consists of informal financing and all non-registered financial activities including intercompany lending, informal lending institutions, and OTC transactions. It also includes all off-balance activities of banks and comprises banks acceptance bills, entrusted products, and securitization of loans linked to wealth management products. The TSF definition also includes securities (bonds and equities) which thus often get lumped as the third group of "shadow banking".



Note: Estimates as of end 2012. (.) are assets rounded to RMB trillion; 2012 GDP was RMB 52 trillion.

The risks in the "shadow banking" space are mainly associated with the off-balance activities of banks whereby banks often lack transparency on risks associated with the products they sell. Another category of risks involve the "other" financial institutions that are not well regulated. Finally, off-balance products are often sold in the informal and non-bank markets and it is not clear to what extent these products could pose risks in terms of spillovers from banks to non-banks and

11

vice versa. One possible securitization process is illustrated below. For now, at least, the total amount does not appear large enough to pose a systemic risk.

Figure 9. An Illustration of the Securitization



3.4. Bottom line: Monetary Control



Figure 10. Summary

Monetary aggregate control:
Setting deposit rate as policy rate; window guidance (credit growth target consistent with M2 growth); off-balance items are influenced partly by prudential rules.
Net injection through adjusting the amount of sterilized intervention.
Influence liquidity in interbank through OMO that control flows into SMEs.
Supervision of trust products control influence non-bank asset size.

Inter financial institutions flows:

Bank and non-bank liabilities depending on risk adjusted relative rates offered;
On and off-balance sheet liabilities of banks depending on banks' needs to meet prudential rules;

 \rightarrow On and off-balance sheet assets of banks depending on credit limits banks' need to meet prudential rules.

Money is created through the usual money multiplier and central bank injection that largely comprises of the unsterilized part of foreign exchange intervention. The money multiplier operates through bank on-balance sheets and to a lesser extent through their off-balance sheet and non-banks. The central bank can control the growth of monetary aggregates through various channels. While significant progress has been made, window guidance and differentiated degree of regulatory enforcement continue to play an important role. Figure 10 summarizes the above discussions.

4. Is China Suffering from Liquidity Overhang?

4.1. Optimal Liquidity: Theory

The issuer of a financial asset in an economy will typically use the proceeds to invest in the capital stock to generate goods and services for future consumption. Thus, the optimal level of liquidity in an economy is defined as the amount that will broadly match the value of the physical assets, which in turn is broadly equal to the net present value of the future stream of goods and services.

If the amount of liquidity—which is a liability of the economy to itself—exceeds the optimal level, the price of the physical stock—which is an asset of the economy—will tend to increase to ensure that assets and liabilities match. This is an unstable situation since claims on future goods and services exceed the actual capacity of the economy to meet those claims. Thus, in this case, either the prices of goods and services have to increase or capacity has to increase from efficiency gains or innovation. This situation could be termed as a monetary overhang.

A country with a high savings rate such as China, however, does not necessarily need to have large liquidity compared to a country with a lower savings rate. What determines the size of liquidity, on the basis of the above definition, is the amount of investment. In other words, in an extreme case where a country does not invest at all but has a very high savings rate, its savings will be invested abroad, i.e., S = X - M since I = 0. Thus, despite the high savings, this country has de facto exported liquidity to another country, and thus also productive capacity.

Suppose a country runs a zero current account balance, or savings is equal to investment. In this case, the amount of optimal liquidity would be larger if investment is higher as it will contribute to productive capacity of that country. In the extreme case where a country does not invest at all and

lives off some windfall gains, i.e., Y = C, then that country's optimal liquidity would be equivalent to the net present value of the windfall gains.

In sum, $P_A K = L \approx P_G C$ where P_A is the price of physical assets, K is the capital stock, L is liquidity, P_G is the price of goods and services (i.e., CPI or GDP deflator), and C is the productive capacity. Thus, to preserve optimal level of liquidity, an increase in L should be matched by an increase in K and C. Otherwise, if L is not properly used, i.e., does not lead to an increase in K, it will lead to an increase in P_A , creating a transitional disequilibrium. The equilibrium will be restored either through an eventual increase in P_G , a drop in L, or an increase in C. In real terms, the equation is:

$$\frac{P_A}{P_G}K = \frac{L}{P_G} \approx C \tag{1}$$

An increasingly wasteful pattern of investment fueled by liquidity (L) will lead to monetary overhang and an increase in asset prices without increasing productive capacity. Eventually, such a situation could lead to a drop in L, which in most cases will not be an orderly unwinding of financial assets, but rather NPLs as a counterparty to the wasteful investment.

The relationship shown in (1) does not hold if an economy does not have a mature financial system and monetary deepening is still taking place. Monetary deepening includes in this case capitalization of the equity market, which is also a form of financial claim in the form of ownership of the capital stock. In this case, $P_AK > L$ and $CP_G > L$, and an increase in L would signify a monetization process and not necessarily lead to an increase in P_A .

A narrower definition of liquidity, closer to the traditional money concept, is also relevant to the extent that it could influence P_G , i.e., $MV = P_GY$

$$\frac{M}{P_G}V = Y$$

where *M* is a subset of *L*, or $\delta C = Y$ where $\delta < 1$. Then:

$$\frac{M}{P_G}V = \delta C \approx \frac{\delta L}{P_G}$$

This implies that $MV \approx \delta L$; and as δ increases, M is becoming larger as a share of L. In other words, as the current period income increases as a share of the economy's productive capacity (i.e., the net present value of the future stream of income), the narrow definition of money that influences CPI becomes larger as a share of total liquidity. If velocity increases, however, the share of M to L does not have to increase. Indeed, previous work has shown that the most relevant monetary aggregate influencing consumer inflation in China is M1.

On the basis of the framework described above, until the late 2000s, liquidity in China was below its capacity to generate future goods and services.² However, in 2007 and since 2009, liquidity has

² See Han and Lee (2012) for definitions. Here, GDP is scaled for the whole period shown in the chart by the difference between estimated capacity in Han and Lee and actual GDP for 2006-2009.

exceeded this capacity (The gap between the two is shown as bars in Figure 11). This gap seemed to play a role in asset price hikes.

Obviously, depending on how liquidity is measured, the magnitude of this gap will change. For example, adjusting liquidity by non-on-balance sheet items in TSF data will show that the gap closes only by 2010 instead of 2006. Furthermore, the gap is not the only factor contributing to asset price increases. Equity prices rose in 2000, 2007, and in 2010 with the sharpest spike observed in 2007. Although the gap was large in 2007, bank credit to individuals appears to have played a major role (Figure 12). In the same year, the number of individual accounts opened in both Shanghai and Shenzhen market rose almost by 50 percent as bank credit to individuals rose by about 115 percent.



Figure 11. Liquidity and Capacity Gap

Figure 12. Liquidity and Capacity Gap and Stock Market Indices





Figure 13. Property Market Floor Space and Price

In the case of the property market, other factors include the net supply of floor space. Figure 13 shows that the recent episodes of property price hikes in 2004, 2007, and 2009 were all associated with excess demand, defined as the annual percent change of floor space sold minus annual percent change of floor space completed—we note that this measure does not account for the changing quality of floor space over time and hence could be biased. However, previous occasions of excess demand for property, e.g., in 1998 and 2000, were not associated with price hikes, partly because there was no liquidity overhang as measured by the gap. On the other hand, the resurgence of price pressures in 2012, despite the excess supply of floor space could be attributed to the gap.

4.2. How Much Liquidity Does China Need?

In China, financial flows are often described as the "virtual economy" and the main question asked is at what size and speed of flow the real economy is most active in a sustainable manner. In particular, with a sense of liquidity overhang from the recent monetary expansion, many caution against expanding liquidity further lest it translate into a property bubble. Instead, they recommend searching for a way to speed the circulation of liquidity, i.e., to raise velocity.

To the extent than the issuance of a financial asset creates "productive capital", an increase in L will lead to an increase in economic activity. However, if the proceeds are used for consumption, then an increase in liquidity will not lead to an increase in economic activity, except when the initial transaction takes place. Likewise, if L is used for wasteful investment, then the impact on the economy will be similar to spending it on consumption.

Moreover, if there is a growing expectation that the value of physical assets will appreciate in an accommodative monetary environment, L will increase as investors will leverage up to purchase these assets. Thus, asset prices will start increase as hoarding takes hold and L will lose traction.

Finally, if an increasing share of assets of the financial sector becomes non-performing, then the share of L will begin to exceed the productive capacity and thus there will be a widening gap between L and GDP. An increasingly large amount of credit is required to provide new money as well as to service the non-performing debt. This is analogous to the situation of wasted investment, requiring increasingly larger amount of investment to keep economic activities afloat.

On the basis of the above observation that the amount of liquidity has probably exceeded the optimal size, a liquidity-induced demand increase does not appear to be the right approach. This is becoming clearly manifest as growth has slowed despite a relatively accommodative monetary policy stance in the last two years, and external demand holding up relatively well. An increase of L in excess of productive capacity risks leading to asset price spikes, potentially working against the government's effort to increase the affordability of residential properties and discouraging speculative investment in assets.

Thus, going forward, liquidity should expand in tandem with the buildup of productive capacity. Given the difficulty in estimating productive capacity, a scaled version of GDP could be used as a proxy. In addition, it would be better to clean up bank balance sheets to ensure that no deadweight is carried forward. Indeed, the deadweight could snowball if not addressed at an early stage. Moreover,

excessive expansion of a subcomponent of L could lead to consumer price inflation. Thus, care should be given to ensure that M1 for example, does not grow excessively even when overall L is appropriate.

5. Is China's Deposit Rate Too Low? A Financial Stability Perspective

In this section, we ask whether China's interest rate structure is necessarily too low from the perspective of the stability of its financial system. For this, we use the average observed in Asian economies, more specifically ASEAN+4, Korea and Hong Kong SAR bank spreads and GDP growth data. We assume that rate of return on financial assets cannot exceed real GDP growth, abstracting from short term variations. We then calculate the spread over real GDP growth to obtain the average cost of financial intermediation. Then, we apply this ratio to the Chinese GDP growth rate to obtain the "minimum" deposit rate for China. In other word, this estimated minimum deposit rate is the cost to banks that will keep them as profitable as the average of Asian economies. On this basis, we obtain the estimated minimum deposit rate for China (Figure 14). It clearly shows that the actual deposit rate in China is too low if we assume the banking system is sound.

However, this analysis changes if there is a growing deadweight loss being carried by the economy. For example, if we assume that the actual NPL ratio—which may not be observable now due to generous forbearance by banks, evergreening, creative accounting by corporates, and rapidly expanding balance sheets—is higher, then the actual deposit rate does not seem to be that far away from the estimated minimum deposit rate that would protect financial stability.





It is not inconceivable that actual (unobservable) NPLs, which have started to grow since 2009, may accelerate now that the economy is slowing. Indeed, the financial system in China has been prone in the past to misallocating capital, as reflected in NPL ratios of over 40 percent ahead of the banking clean up of the late 1990s and recent IMF staff estimates of excess capacity of around 40 percent (IMF 2012). For illustrative purposes, if the ratio were to rise from current levels of around 1 percent to 15-20 percent, then the current deposit rate may not be high.

The implication of this analysis is not so much to suggest that the current deposit rate is adequate, but that bank balance sheets may need to be cleaned up if bad assets rise significantly above current levels. Otherwise, households and some selected corporates with large savings will have to carry the burden of any growing bad debt, complicating the rebalancing of China's economy. In the short-term, inaction will also further undermine the ability to support growth through monetary stimulus.

6. Rebalancing China's Growth: The Future of the Financial Sector

The purpose of the financial sector of an economy is to provide efficient financial services by facilitating inter-temporal consumption, i.e., savings and investment, and promoting effective financial intermediation. Controlling the size of liquidity in the financial market and providing a market framework to host the financial system are the responsibilities of the supervisors. International experiences indicate that proactive government intervention in allocating resources has worked well in some countries during their early development stage, when institutions and market signals are still weak, profitable investment opportunities are relatively easy to identify, and development plans with a subservient financial system allow the reaping of economies of scale. However, as the economy matures, the complexity of the system outgrows these development plans.

China may be approaching such a point. The main question going forward then is in what form and speed the financial flows should grow to best support the real economy. This question also coincides with the transitioning of the economy from an investment led to a consumption driven growth. The latter is equivalent to shifting toward a market based growth model in the sense of less investment induced growth. Thus, both the complexity of the real economy and the need to transit to a more market based growth necessitate a rethinking of the financial sector.

At present, China's financial system is segmented into banks and non-banks, with discontinuous links between these two institutions (Figure 15). This segmentation has roots in banks, particularly the larger ones, having an implicit guarantee on their operations from the government that discourage them from seeking out corporations that could generate higher risk-adjusted returns, irrespective of their size. Distortions created by such soft budget constraints—together with quantitative and price restrictions on credit with a lower than market clearing deposit rate ceiling—leads to a segmentation of the financial system as shown below.

Once restrictions are lifted and prices are indirectly influenced by monetary operations, the segmentation will disappear and interest rates will properly start reflecting risk-adjusted returns. Allocative efficiency will be gained as larger banks will start lending to companies that in the past

were borrowing from non-banks. Interbank market rates will hover just above deposit rates, and WMP rates, reflecting higher risks, above interbank rates but below lending rates. Currently, the guaranteed returns of banks—associated with the existing governance structure, soft budget constraints, little competition from other financial institutions, and interest rate regulation—provide little incentive for the system to settle into such an equilibrium.





7. Conclusion

There is a partial consensus that the stock of money in China should be large reflecting the high savings rate. Even so, with a sense of a liquidity overhang from the monetary expansion used to counter the global crisis, many caution against pushing credit further, lest it translate into a property bubble or impose further strains on the financial system. In addition, the recent growth of the non-banking system adds to concerns about lack of effective financial intermediation through the banking system. Some even claim that the monetary authorities may be losing control over the growth of key monetary aggregates. Against this background, this paper reviewed recent monetary developments in China and assessed how the financial system will have to change to support the rebalancing of the economy.

While non-banks have indeed grown rapidly, we argue that their activities are largely influenced by banks through various channels. As a result, the monetary authorities still retain relatively good control over the growth of monetary aggregates.

However, the disparity between the amount of liquidity supply and the responsiveness of the real economy in recent times may be an indication that credit is losing traction. In addition, China's low deposit rate, while sub-optimal from the point of view of savers and providing a subsidy to

investment, may not be unjustified if there are large NPLs hidden away on the balance sheet of financial institutions.

The implication of both these possibilities—the loss in traction of credit and financial stability concerns justifying low deposit rates—is that a clean-up of bank balance sheets, as seen in the late 1990s, may need to precede financial sector reform. Otherwise, households will need to bear the burden, undermining the rebalancing of China's growth, and the economy will become increasingly addicted and unresponsive to monetary stimulus.

More broadly, the paper argues that a reform of the financial sector is urgent to ensure that institutions start building up capacity to assess risks properly. This will provide the necessary environment for resources to start being allocated optimally through market signals. Such a reform will require a fundamental rethink of the current governance structure in China, under which the financial sector is subservient to the growth model. The timing of such a shift would be opportune, however, as the growth model itself is being transformed.

With these conditions in place, the relative size of banks and non-bank system would not be important in itself and should be left for the market to determine over time. Moreover, China's high savings rate should not be used as the basis for determining the optimal size of total liquidity, but the underlying productive capacity of the economy.

References

- Burdekin, Richard C. K. and Pierre L. Siklos. 2008. "What has Driven Chinese Monetary Policy Since 1990? Investigating the People's Bank's Policy Rule." *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 27, pp. 847-859.
- Cassola, Nuno and Nathan Porter. 2011. "Understanding Chinese Bond Yields and their Role in Monetary Policy." IMF Working Paper, No. 11/225.
- Chen, Hongyi, Qianying Chen, and Stefan Gerlach. 2011. "The Implementation of Monetary Policy in China: The Interbank Market and Bank Lending." HKIMR Working Paper, No. 26/2011
- Dickinson, David and Jia Liu. 2007. "The Real Effects of Monetary Policy in China: An Empirical Analysis." *China Economic Review*, Vol. 18, pp. 87-111.
- Fan, Longzhen, Yihong Yu and Chu Zhang. 2011. "An Empirical Evaluation of China's Monetary Policies." *Journal of Macroeconomics*, Vol. 33, pp. 358-371.
- Garcia-Herrero, Alicia and Eric Girardin. 2013. "China's Monetary Policy Communication: Money Markets not only Listen, They also Understand." HKIMR Working Paper, No. 02/2013.
- Han, L. and I. Lee. 2012. "Optimal Liquidity and Economic Stability." IMF Working Paper, No. 12/135. Washington: International Monetary Fund.
- He, Dong and Honglin Wang. 2012. "Dual-track Interest Rates and the Conduct of Monetary Policy in China." *China Economic Review*, Vol. 23, pp. 928-947.
- He, Dong , Laurent L. Pauwels. 2008. "What Prompts the People's Bank of China to Change Its Monetary Policy Stance? Evidence from a Discrete Choice Model." *China & World Economy*, Vol. 16, No. 6, pp. 1-21.
- He, Ping, Guangyu Nie, Guanglong Wang, and Xiang Zhang. 2011. "Optimal Monetary Policy in China." China & World Economy, Vol. 19, No. 1, pp. 83-105.
- He, Qing, Pak-Ho Leung and Terence Tai-Leung Chong. 2013. "Factor-augmented VAR Analysis of the Monetary Policy in China." *China Economic Review*, Vol. 25, pp. 88-104.
- Hou, Xiaohui and Qing Wang. 2013. "Implications of Banking Marketization for the Lending Channel of Monetary Policy Transmission: Evidence from China." *Journal of Macroeconomics*, Vol. 38, pp. 442-451.
- Huang, Guitian and He Shijun. 2011. "Structural Distortions and China's Monetary Puzzle." *Journal* of Financial Research, 2011 (7).
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2012. "People's Republic of China: 2012 Article IV Consultation." IMF Country Report No. 12/195. Washington: International Monetary Fund.
- Jawadi, Fredj, Sushanta Kumar Mallick, and Ricardo Magalhães Sousa. 2014. "Nonlinear Monetary Policy Reaction Functions in Large Emerging Economies: the Case of Brazil and China." *Applied Economics*, Vol. 46, No. 9, pp. 973-984.

- Koivu, Tuuli. 2012. "Monetary Policy, Asset Prices and Consumption in China." *Economic Systems*, Vol. 36, pp. 307-325.
- Li, Shaoyu and Li-Chuan Tsai. 2013. "Would a Relaxation of the Exchange Rate Regime Increase the Independence of Chinese Monetary Policy? Evidence from China." *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, Vol. 49, pp. 103-123.
- Li, Bo and Wu Ge. 2011. "Shadow Banks, Credit Creation and Challenges to Monetary Policy." *Journal of Financial Research*, 12: 77-84.
- Li, Jian. 2007. "Structural Change: A New Explanation to China's Monetary Puzzle." *Journal of Financial Research*, 1: 004.
- Luo, Zhenxin and Feng Ke. 2012. "Shadow Banking and Monetary Policy in China." Wuhan Finance Monthly, 2012 (4): 19-22; Mehrotra, Aaron and José R. Sánchez-Fung. 2010. "China's Monetary Policy and the Exchange Rate." BOFIT Discussion Papers, No. 10/2010.
- Shu, Chang and Brian Ng. 2010. "Monetary Stance and Policy Objectives in China: A Narrative Approach." HKMA China Economic Issues, No. 1/10.
- Sun, Lixin, J. L. Ford, and David Dickinson. 2010. "Bank Loans and the Effects of Monetary Policy in China: VAR/VECM Approach." *China Economic Review*, Vol. 21, pp. 65-97.
- Sun, Rongrong. 2013. "Does Monetary Policy Matter in China? A Narrative Approach." China Economic Review, Vol. 26, pp. 56-74.
- Tang, Yong, Yong Luo, Jie Xiong, Fei Zhao and Yi-Cheng Zhang. 2013. "Impact of Monetary Policy Changes on the Chinese Monetary and Stock Markets." *Physica A*, Vol. 392, pp. 4435-4449.
- Xiong, Weibo. 2012. "Measuring the Monetary Policy Stance of the People's Bank of China: An Ordered Probit Analysis." *China Economic Review*, Vol. 23, pp. 512-533.
- Xu, Xiaoqing Eleanor and Tao Chen. 2012. "The Effect of Monetary Policy on Real Estate Price Growth in China." *Pacific-Bsin Finance Journal*, Vol. 20, pp. 62-77.
- Yan, Yan, Yan-Ting Wang and Xiao-Wu Zhu. 2011. "Heterogeneous Responses of Chinese Cities' Housing Prices to Monetary Policies." *Communications in Theoretical Physics*, Vol. 56, pp. 791-796.
- Yao, Shujie, Dan Luo and Lixia Loh. 2011. "On China's Monetary Policy and Asset Prices." University of Nottingham Research Paper, No. 2011/04.
- Zhang, Chengsi. 2011. "Inflation Persistence, Inflation Expectations, and Monetary Policy in China." *Economic Modelling*, Vol. 28, pp. 622-629.
- Zhang, Chunsheng and Wu Chaolin. 2008. "Review of High Distortion Causes of China's M2/GDP -Based on the analysis of Commercial Bank Balance Sheets." *Journal of Quantitative and Technical Economics*, 25(5): 3-16.
- Zhang, Yanbing, Xiuping Hua and Liang Zhao. 2011. "Monetary Policy and Housing Prices: A Case Study of Chinese Experience in 1999-2010." BOFIT Discussion Papers, No. 17/2011.

Zheng, Tingguo, Xia Wang, and Huiming Guo. 2012. "Estimating Forward-looking Rules for China's Monetary Policy: A Regime-switching Perspective." *China Economic Review*, Vol. 23, pp. 47-59.